03/07/2023

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0012

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Case No. DA 23-0012

ALMA EDWARDS

Plaintiff/Appellant,

VS.

TURLEY DENTAL CARE, P.C.,

Defendant/Appellee.

PLAINTIFF'S/APPELLANT'S BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County, District Court Cause No. DV 20-1292 Before the Honorable Jessica T. Fehr

APPEARANCES:

Elizabeth M. Varela VARELA LAW FIRM PLLC 401 North 24th Street Billings, Montana 59101 Telephone: (406) 534-4872 liz@varelalawfirmpllc.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs/Appellant

Afton Ball & Bobbi Owens
MOULTON BELLINGHAM PC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the District Court err as a matter of law when it dismissed the WDEA claim and held Turley had 'good cause' to terminate Alma Edwards? (District court's 8/12/21 Order)
- 2. Did the District Court err by refusing to compel comparative evidence of disability and age discrimination, and other relevant evidence? (12/13/22 Order)
- 3. Did the District Court apply the incorrect legal standard, the wrong burden of proof, and decide multiple genuine issues of material fact as to age and disability discrimination in favor of the moving party? (12/13/22 Order)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about an employer's power to invade privacy rights and discriminate in the workplace. This Court should reverse the district court's orders, which allow an employer to punish a worker for engaging in legal activities after work.

Appellant Alma Edwards ("Alma") served her employer, Appellee Turley Dental Care, P.C. ("Turley") as a devoted, loyal, hard-working and high-performing employee for 24 years, despite disabilities. *Complaint*. Alma has been diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, anxiety, and back pain. *Id*. Two independent medical doctors prescribed medical marijuana for Alma to relieve her symptoms. *Id*. It is undisputed that Alma's disabilities did not affect her ability to perform her job

duties. *Complaint*, ¶10; In fact, Turley testified it had no idea about Alma's medical marijuana usage until it received her positive drug test. *Answer*, ¶10-12.

After 24 years, Turley drastically and unfairly changed the terms of Alma's employment without any consideration. Turley created a mandatory drug testing policy that required every worker, regardless of job tasks, longevity or performance, to submit to random drug testing. *Complaint*, ¶14.

On or about October 8, 2019 Turley tested 62 year old Alma, who tested positive for marijuana, which she was legally prescribed and using *only* during evening after-work hours pursuant to her medical marijuana card. *Complaint*, ¶13. Alma was a highly supervised front desk worker with little to no authority or discretion. *Complaint*, ¶¶6-7; *Edwards Aff*. She answered the phone; greeted clients; gathered insurance information; scheduled clients; and collected payments, etc. *Id*. Her job did <u>not</u> include management, hazardous work, security, affecting public health, or fiduciary duties. *Id*.

Turley violated the Montana Drug Testing Act (the "Act") by requiring Alma to take a random drug test or else lose her job of 24 years. Turley then fired Alma. *See Complaint; Answer*. Turley claims it fired her for violation of its drug testing policy; Alma claims that proffered reason is a pretext for age/disability discrimination. *Id.* Alma applied for unemployment and won Turley's appeal of the decision. *Complaint*, ¶19-20. The Office of Administrative Hearings held:

- "Black's Law Dictionary defines fiduciary as a person acting primarily for another person's benefit. Examples of a fiduciary relationship include the relationship between an attorney and client, or the guardian of a minor." *Complaint, Ex. A.*
- "<u>The claimant's job</u> as a patient care coordinator/front office treatment coordinator <u>is not</u> a job that is <u>subject to Montana's Drug and Alcohol laws</u>" and "the <u>claimant was not in a position that the employer could require her to be tested under Montana law</u>." *Id*. (emphasis added).

Alma exhausted her administrative remedies before the Human Rights Bureau; obtained her right to sue letter; and filed suit in district court. *Complaint*, ¶38.

Alma filed a motion for partial summary judgment that Turley Dental illegally drug tested Alma in violation of the Act. Alma argued she was not an "employee" subject to random drug testing and thus Turley did not have "good cause" for termination. Turley filed a cross-motion on that same issue. The district court granted Turley's motion and denied Alma's.

During litigation Turley withheld many documents (such as comparator evidence of discrimination and Alma's own employee dental records evidencing her back disability). Alma filed a motion to compel, which the court denied.

3

¹ Alma sued Turley for 1.) Wrongful Discharge from Employment; 2.) violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-313 (Discrimination Prohibited for Use of Lawful Product During Non-Working Hours); 3.) violations of Montana Human Rights act (disability and age discrimination); and 4.) Invasion of Privacy.

While Alma's motion to compel was pending, Turley filed its third motion for summary judgment asking the court to dismiss Alma's discrimination claims. The district court applied the incorrect legal standards and refused to consider evidence Alma submitted in a light most favorable to her as non-moving party. On December 13, 2022 the district court granted Turley's motion and dismissed this case. On that same day, the district court also denied Alma's combined motion to compel discovery and award sanctions (attorneys fees and costs). Alma filed a timely appeal of the district court's final judgment.

STATEMENT OF (DISPUTED) FACTS²

- 1. Alma's clerical job did not involve management, hazardous work, security, public health or safety, or fiduciary duties. *Complaint*, ¶¶6-7; *Edwards Aff*. ¶¶3-5.
- 2. Alma Edwards suffered from disabilities, including chronic back pain, which Turley has disputed. *Complaint*, ¶8-12; *Affidavit of Sandra Rodoni*, attached as Ex. 2, ¶6 to *Alma's Brief in Opp. to Turley's 3rd SJ Motion*; see Edwards' OrthoMontana Records attached as Ex. 5 to *Alma's Brief in Opp. to SJ*; Depo. of Dr. Hirt, attached to *Alma's Brief in Opp.* as Ex. 6, pp. 105-106, 170-171 (and Ex. 13 to *Hirt Depo.*, also attached to *Alma's Brief in Opp.*).

4

² Please see Statement of Disputed Facts section of Alma's Response to Turley's Third Motion for Summary Judgment for more.

- 3. Contrary to their contradictory testimony, Turley and Dr. Hirt (50% owner of Turley) had knowledge of Alma Edwards' chronic back pain disability. *Id*. Dr. Hirt testified that he treated Alma Edwards as an employee dental patient. *See Hirt Depo*, pp. 105-107, 172, Ex. 6 to *Alma's Opp. Brief*.
 - Q: Because it seems to me that based on these notes someone at Turley Dental was aware that Alma was suffering from back pain, correct?
 - A: It would appear that way that it's noted here.
 - Q: And the problem from my perspective is we had the office manager, we have Rita Turley and Dr. Turley, Rachel Turley, and now you testify that you had no knowledge whatsoever of any back issues with Alma Edwards at any point. But that's not true, is it? It's right in her record that she was having back issues.

A: **Right.**

Dr. Hirt Depo, attached to *Alma's Opp. Brief* as Ex. 6, pp. 105:13-18; 170:22-25; 171:1-18 (emphasis added).

- 4. Turley treated Alma worse than other non-disabled, younger people because of Alma Edwards' age and disabilities. Turley ultimately terminated Alma because of her age and disabilities. *See attachments to Alma's Opp. Brief: Aff. Rodoni*, Ex. 3, ¶¶ 4, 6, 7-20; *Aff. Schlichting*, Ex.1, ¶¶ 5-20; *see Alma Depo; Complaint*.
- 5. Contrary to Turley's contradictory testimony, Turley's Drug Testing Policy is not a 'zero tolerance' policy. *See Alma's Opp. Brief: Turley Depo.*, Ex. 4, pp. 227, 228, 231. (Q: So you had discretion in how to treat Alma, correct? A: Yes.)

- 6. Turley used its discretionary drug testing policy to discriminate against Alma and allow a non-disabled, significantly younger person to fail the drug test, retake it and be hired, despite the policy's statement that "a positive drug test will disqualify an applicant for employment." *Alma's Opp. Brief: Turley Depo.*, Ex. 4, pp. 66, 67, 227, 228, 231; *Aff. Schlichting*, Ex. 1, ¶¶ 4-20.
- 7. Turley (and the district court) questioned whether Alma Edwards was "otherwise qualified for continued employment," which is another genuine issue of material fact. *Alma Opp. Brief:* p. 17; *see Aff. Schlichting,* Ex. 1, ¶¶ 2, 3, 13.
- 8. Turley had a pattern and practice of treating older, disabled employees far worse than younger, healthy employees, including Alma Edwards. *Alma's Opp. Brief: Aff. Schlichting; Aff. Rodoni*, ¶¶ 1-20.
- 9. Turley Dental made comments like the following about older employees like Teresa Schlichting and Alma Edwards: "You are too old to wear your bangs in a clip"; "You are too old to wear sparkles on your shirt." *Alma's Opp. Brief: Schlichting Aff.*, Ex. 1, ¶¶ 1-20.
- 10. Turley Dental violated its own "Alcohol and Controlled Substance Policy" by serving and consuming alcohol during supervisor meetings. *Alma's Opp. Brief: Schlichting Aff.*, Ex. 1, ¶ 19. Non-disabled supervisors got away with violating the Policy; old, disabled Alma Edwards got fired. *Id*.

11. During depositions of Turley witnesses, Alma uncovered ongoing discovery abuse, including the fact that certain key Turley representatives were not asked to even search for responsive discovery documents until about a week before the deposition (and some not at all). See id; see Alma's Brief in Support of Motion to Compel, pp. 8-10.

12. During the depositions, Turley initially testified untruthfully about how it violated its own policy by hiring a young, non-disabled hygienist who failed Turley's drug test for recreational marijuana (illegal in Montana at the time); and yet, Turley fired 62-year-old disabled Alma Edwards almost immediately after it learned she failed the drug test for medical marijuana. *See id; see Alma's Brief in Support of Motion to Compel*, pp. 5-6.

13. On August 25, 2022, Dr. James Turley was asked the following under oath. His answers put his credibility at issue:

Q: Let me ask you this: If a hygienist failed a drug test for recreational marijuana, would you allow them to work for you?

A: No.

Q: You wouldn't?

A: No.

See Alma Brief in Support Motion to Compel, Dr. James Turley Depo, p. 54:18-23, attached as Exhibit D.

Dr. James Turley was also asked the following – and again answered untruthfully:

Q: So if you test positive, you're terminated. Are there any exceptions to that?

A: No.

- Q: Is it also your understanding of the policy that if you test positive during onboarding, you will not be hired?
- A: That's correct.
- Q: Are there any exceptions to that?
- A: No.
- Q: Has your office ever made any exceptions to that?
- A: No.

Id. at 62:25;63:1-11, Ex. D.

14. The next day, Turley's Rule 30(b)(6) corporate representative

Rita Turley also responded untruthfully:

- Q: What about for new hires? If somebody is on-boarding and they test positive, is there also a zero-tolerance policy for new hires that test positive?
- A: We do not hire them if they test positive.
- Q: Has there ever been a time where a new hire has tested positive, failed a drug test, and were still hired despite a failed drug test?
- A: No.
- Q: Never?
- A: Never.
- Q: I'm going to remind you you're under oath.
- A: I said never. Now –
- Q: How about Ka--- La---?
- A: I am unaware of that name.

Turley Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition by Rita Turley, p. 66:19-25; 67:1-7, attached as Exhibit E to Alma Brief in Support Motion to Compel.

15. Despite Turley's significant credibility issues, the district court ruled in its favor on every disputed factual issue. *See Order*.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

<u>Issue 1 (8/13/21 Summary Judgment Order):</u> The Supreme Court reviews legal determinations made by the district court based on whether the court erred.

Langemo v. Montana Rail Link, Inc., 2001 MT 273, 307 Mont. 293, 298, 38 P.3d 782, 786. "We review questions of statutory interpretation as a question of law to determine whether the District Court's interpretation of the law is correct." *Id.* at ¶ 18.

Issue 2 (12/13/22 Order denying Motion to Compel): "This Court follows 'a strict policy that dilatory discovery actions shall not be dealt with leniently." *Id.* (internal citation omitted). The Rules of Civil Procedure are "premised upon a policy of liberal and broad discovery." *Patterson v. State, Dep't of Just., Motor Vehicle Div.*, 2002 MT 97, ¶ 15, 309 Mont. 381, 387, 46 P.3d 642, 646. "Common sense and fundamental fairness suggest that no party should be forced to proceed under such a 'cloud of uncertainty." *Id.* at ¶ 21. "When a party's failure to comply with discovery procedures effectively halts the discovery process, it results in impermissible prejudice to the opposing party." *Id.* As this Court admonished:

This Court strictly adheres to the policy that dilatory discovery actions shall not be dealt with leniently. As we have said, the trial courts, and this Court on review, must remain intent upon punishing transgressors rather than patiently encouraging their cooperation. Accordingly, the imposition of sanctions for failure to comply with discovery procedures is regarded with favor. It is, after all, a maxim of our rules of discovery that the price for dishonesty must be made unbearable to thwart the inevitable temptation that zealous advocacy inspires.

We have adopted this policy of intolerance regarding discovery abuse pursuant to our concern over crowded dockets and the need to maintain fair and efficient judicial administration of pending cases. As we have observed: "Litigants who are willful in halting the discovery process act in opposition to the authority of the court and cause impermissible prejudice to their opponents. It is even more important to note, in this era of crowded dockets, that they also deprive other litigants of an opportunity to use the courts as a serious dispute-settlement mechanism."

Richardson v. State, 2006 MT 43, ¶¶ 55-58, 331 Mont. 231, 248, 130 P.3d 634, 647 (internal citation omitted).

Issue 3 (Order granting Defendant Summary Judgment): "The test that we now establish for a plaintiff in a discrimination case to survive a motion for summary judgment comports with Rule 56, M.R.Civ.P., in that a plaintiff is required to raise an **inference of pretext**, as opposed to *proving* pretext." Heiat v. E. Montana Coll., 275 Mont. 322, 333, 912 P.2d 787, 793-4 (1996) (emphasis added). "This burden is more aligned with the general requirement of raising a genuine issue of material fact to survive the motion for summary judgment." Id. "Our standard in reviewing a district court's grant of a motion for summary judgment is de novo." Id. "That is, we review an order of summary judgment using the same criteria as the district court; we are guided by Rule 56, M.R.Civ.P." *Id.* "Thus, we determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists and whether the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id. "Summary judgment is an extreme remedy and should never be substituted for a trial if a material fact controversy exists." Id. (emphasis added).

"A party seeking summary judgment has the burden of establishing a complete absence of any genuine factual issues." *Heiat v. E. Montana Coll.*, 275 Mont. 322, 329, 912 P.2d 787, 792 (emphasis added). "In light of the pleadings and the evidence before the district court, there must be **no** material issue of fact remaining which would entitle a non-moving party to recover." *Id.* "Once the moving party has met its burden, the party opposing the summary judgment motion must present material and substantial evidence, rather than conclusory or speculative statements, to raise a genuine issue of material fact." *Id.* "In addition, all reasonable inferences that might be drawn from the offered evidence should be drawn **in favor of the party who opposed summary judgment**. *Id.* (emphasis added).

"On a motion for summary judgment in discrimination cases, the *McDonnell Douglas* order of proof and shifting of burdens at trial must be viewed in light of the traditional test for granting a motion for summary judgment." *Id.* "That test is whether the moving party has demonstrated that there are no genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* "As the Seventh Circuit stated, '[a]s a general rule, **questions of motive and intent are inappropriate for summary judgment.**" *Id.* (emphasis added).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Issue 1</u>. This Court should reverse the district court's 8/12/21 order granting Turley summary judgment, because the district court violated the canons of statutory

construction (Mont. Code Ann. § 1-2-107 (Applicability of definitions)) and this Supreme Court's precedent³ to dismiss Alma's WDEA claim. To decide whether Alma was an "employee" subject to testing under the Drug Testing Act, the district court disregarded several sections of Montana's Code defining "fiduciary" and "affecting public health," and instead resorted to Merriam Webster's overly-broad, general *online* dictionary definitions. The court erred when it stated: "The Montana Supreme Court has never stated that courts should take a definition from one part of the Montana Code and apply it across the board to the entire Montana Code." *Order*, p. 7.

Contrary to the district court's Order, Mont. Code Ann. § 1-2-107 explicitly states the opposite: "Whenever the meaning of a word or phrase is defined in any part of this code, such definition is applicable to the same word or phrase wherever it occurs, except where a contrary intention plainly appears."

Contrary to the court's order, Alma was not a "fiduciary" or a worker whose tasks "affected public health" as a front desk receptionist at a private dental office. She was therefore not subject to random drug testing under the Act; Turley's proffered reason for termination was unlawful. The court should not have decided

³ SJL of Montana Assocs. Ltd. P'ship v. City of Billings, 263 Mont. 142, 147, 867 P.2d 1084, 1087 (1993) ("However, when a word is defined in the code, that definition is applicable to other parts of the code except where the contrary is plainly indicated.")

that Turley's proffered reason for Alma's termination constituted 'good cause' and thus should not have dismissed the WDEA claim.

<u>Issue 2</u>. The district court abused its discretion by refusing to compel the very evidence it stated Alma should have produced to defeat summary judgment on Alma's age and disability discrimination claims (Issue 3).

Issue 3. The district court applied the wrong legal standards to dismiss Alma's discrimination claims; improperly disregarded almost all of the admissible evidence Alma submitted; and decided multiple genuine issues of material fact in favor of Turley.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should reverse the district court's summary judgment order because the court erred as a matter of law when it dismissed Alma's WDEA claim and held that Turley had 'good cause' to terminate Alma.

The district court should have granted Alma's motion and denied Turley's cross motion. Turley violated the Drug Testing Act by requiring Alma to take a random drug test or else lose her job of 24 years. The Court should reverse the district court's order and instead hold that Alma was not an "employee" subject to drug testing under the Act as that term is narrowly defined; and thus Turley violated the Act as a matter of law by requiring Alma to submit to the test. The test result was not 'good cause' for termination.

Turley's proffered⁴ reason for terminating Alma was her failed drug test for medical marijuana that she was legally using pursuant to her prescription from her doctors – never at work and only during non-work hours – to relieve the symptoms of her disabilities. *See Complaint; see Answer*. This Court should reverse the district court's order and hold that Turley's alleged reason for termination was not "good cause" and thus Turley also violated the WDEA. *See 8/12/21 Order*.

Turley was not allowed to drug test Alma because the Act provides a very narrow and strict definition of "employee" to limit who is – and more importantly who is not – eligible for drug testing in the workplace. See Alma's Brief and Reply in Support of Summary Judgment; see also Alma's Response in Opposition to Turley's Cross Motion. The very specific, limited definition of an "employee" who may be drug tested by an employer in Montana is as follows:

- (4)(a) "Employee" means an individual engaged in the performance, supervision, or management of work in a:
 - (i) hazardous work environment;
 - (ii) security position; or
 - (iii) position:
 - (A) affecting public safety or public health;
 - (B) in which driving a motor vehicle is necessary for any part of the individual's work duties; or
 - (C) involving a fiduciary responsibility for an employer.
 - (b) The term does not include an independent contractor or an elected official who serves on the governing body of a local government.

⁴ The alleged failed drug test is the pretextual, false reason for termination; the real reason for termination was age and disability discrimination.

Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-206(4).

The Court should reverse the district court's Order and protect Alma's right to privacy during non-work hours.⁵

A. Randomly drug testing low risk workers violates public policy and Montana's constitutional right to privacy.

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