FILED

05/09/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0012

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Cause No. DA 23-0012

ALMA EDWARDS,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

-VS-

TURLEY DENTAL CARE, P.C.,

Defendant/Appellee.

On Appeal from the Montana Thirteenth Judicial District Court, Yellowstone County Hon. Jessica T. Fehr Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEARANCES:

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly interpreted and applied Montana law in concluding Appellant was an employee subject to Turley's drug testing policy, and Turley had "good cause" to terminate Appellant due to her violation of the Policy.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Compel. And the District Court correctly dismissed Appellant's claims for discrimination based on the overwhelming evidence, including Appellant's own statements, concluding Appellant failed to meet her burden in opposing summary judgment.

Appellant's own policy preferences regarding employer-mandated drug testing cannot justify reversing the District Court's dismissal of Appellant's wrongful discharge claim, and this Court should so hold. Appellant amounted to an "employee" within the context of the Montana Workforce Drug and Alcohol Testing Act, as her position was one "involving a fiduciary responsibility" for her employer and "affecting public safety or public health." As such, she was properly subject to drug testing under statute, and Turley acted with "good cause" when it terminated her for violating an employment policy based on a drug test expressly authorized by Montana law. The district court correctly dismissed Appellant's wrongful discharge claim.

Likewise, the district court appropriately used its discretion to deny Appellant's Motion to Compel dated September 30, 2022. Appellant's Motion relied on overbroad requests to seek various categories of information that largely did not exist, and in at least one instance, a category of information that was confidential, not subject to disclosure, and otherwise irrelevant to Appellant's discrimination claims.

Finally, the District Court correctly granted summary judgment to Turley on Appellant's age and disability discrimination claims as: 1) Appellant's claims were effectively barred by Montana statute and this Court's case law, 2) Appellant was without evidence to demonstrate *prima facie* cases of age and disability discrimination, and 3) because no genuine issues of material fact prevented summary judgment. This Court should affirm accordingly.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The District Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment on Appellant's</u> <u>Wrongful Discharge Claim.</u>

Looking first to her request to reverse the District Court's dismissal of her wrongful discharge claim, Appellant presents two arguments to "support" that request.

13

First, she asks this Court to reverse the District Court because, in her eyes, "[r]andom drug testing low risk workers violates public policy and Montana's constitutional right to privacy[,]" and there are accordingly "serious public policy reasons to reverse the district court's order." (Opening Br. at 15).

Second, she asks the Court to hold that the lower court erred as a matter of law when it concluded she was properly subject to random drug testing conducted under the Drug Testing Act. Unfortunately for Appellant, both arguments fall flat, and this Court should accordingly affirm the District Court's dismissal of her wrongful discharge claim. (Opening Br. at 17-26).

A. Appellant's Public Policy Preferences Do Not Justify Reversing the District Court, Nor do Misguided References to Alleged "Constitutional" Violations.

At the outset, it is telling that Appellant begins her appeal with roughly three pages of discussion regarding alleged policy concerns. As the Court will note, this section is <u>devoid of legal citation</u>, including any citation to the Montana Wrongful Discharge from Employment Act or the Montana Workforce Drug and Alcohol Testing Act.

In beginning her brief with a "Hail Mary" appeal to alleged public policy concerns, Appellant seemingly acknowledges that the law applicable to this case is not on her side, and therefore asks the Court to overlook the law in a manner that — in her view — is more consistent with good public policy.

Appellant's own policy preferences are unpersuasive. The Court should disregard this portion of Appellant's briefing and not be persuaded to reverse the District Court's interpretation of law based on Appellant's unsupported policy arguments.

Furthermore, while Appellant, citing Article II, Section 10 of the Montana Constitution, also seemingly suggests there are constitutional concerns with allowing Turley to conduct drug testing on employees like her, these arguments also fail.

First, Mont. R. Civ. P. 56(a) provides parties the ability to move for "summary judgment on all or part of [a] *claim*." (emphasis added). In this case, Appellant did not plead any constitutional claim with the District Court, did not make any legal argument based on a constitutional right to privacy before the District Court in support of her wrongful discharge claim, and the District Court did not consider any such claim through summary judgment briefing or otherwise. Appellant cannot now ask this Court to reverse the District Court's holding on her wrongful discharge claim based on alleged constitutional claims that she did not present to the lower court. "This Court does not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal." *Mountain W. Bank, N.A. v. Glacier Kitchens, Inc.*, 2012 MT 132, ¶ 13, 365 Mont. 276, 281 P.3d 600.

Moreover, even if Appellant had pled some sort of constitutional claim against Turley, it would have appropriately failed as a matter of law. As this Court has consistently recognized, "the privacy section of the Montana Constitution contemplates privacy invasion by <u>state action only</u>." State v. Long, 216 Mont. 65, 71, 700 P.2d 153, 157 (1985) (emphasis added). While Appellant may personally feel that her termination was unfortunate, it would not have triggered any sort of constitutional claim for her, even if she had pled one. The Court should appropriately disregard her arguments on this point.

B. Appellant Was Subject to Drug Testing Conducted Under the Montana Workforce Drug and Alcohol Testing Act, and Turley Had "Good Cause" to Terminate Her.

Further, even considering Appellant's arguments regarding whether she was properly subject to drug testing conducted under the Drug Testing Act, these arguments also do not justify reversing the District Court's dismissal of her wrongful discharge claim.

As the Court knows well, Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-904 (2019) provides a remedy to employees who suffer a "wrongful discharge." Under that section,

(1) A discharge is wrongful <u>only</u> if:

(a) it was in retaliation for the employee's refusal to violate public policy or for reporting a violation of public policy;

(b) the discharge was <u>not for good cause</u> and the employee had completed the employer's probationary period of employment; or

(c) the employer violated the express provisions of its own written personnel policy.

Id. (emphasis added).

Per WDEA statutory definitions, "good cause" is defined as "reasonable jobrelated grounds for dismissal based on a failure to satisfactorily perform job duties, disruption of the employer's operation, or other legitimate business reasons." Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-903(5). Importantly, case law defines "a legitimate business reason" as any reason that is not "false, whimsical, arbitrary, or capricious, and one that must have some logical relationship to the needs of the business." *Putnam v. Cent. Montana Med. Ctr.*, 2020 MT 65, ¶ 15, 399 Mont. 241, 460 P.3d 419.

The essence of Appellant's wrongful discharge claim is a bit unusual as it essentially turns on a separate question of statutory interpretation. Appellant argues Turley should not have fired her for failing a drug test, as Appellant did not amount to an "employee" under the Drug Testing Act, and Turley therefore had no right to test her in the first place.

Thus, Appellant's claim centers on the narrow issue of whether Turley could lawfully subject her to drug testing. If Turley did not have the legal authority to subject her to drug testing, she argues it had no legitimate business reason to fire her. However, if Turley could subject her to testing, she effectively concedes that Turley had a legitimate business reason for her termination, as she has offered no other argument to suggest her discharge was wrongful.¹

Unfortunately for Appellant, her arguments on statutory interpretation fall short. When applying canons of construction to interpret Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-206, the District Court correctly determined that Appellant was an "employee" properly subject to testing, and none of the arguments offered by Appellant regarding entirely unrelated statutes and inapplicable case law should convince this Court otherwise.

1. The District Court Correctly Concluded Appellant's Position Was One Involving a "Fiduciary Responsibility" and Affecting "Public Safety or Public Health."

As noted by Appellant, the Drug Testing Act explicitly defines "employee," thereby identifying the classes of individuals who would be subject to drug testing conducted under that statute.

(4)(a) "Employee" means an individual engaged in the performance, supervision, or management of work in a:

(i) hazardous work environment;

(ii) security position; or

(iii) position:

(A) affecting *public safety or public health*;

(B) in which driving a motor vehicle is necessary for any part of the individual's work duties; or

(C) involving a *fiduciary responsibility* for an employer.

¹ All of which disregards that Plaintiff knowingly violated an employment policy which both she and Turley believed at the time applied to her. A violation of policy in almost any other discharge context equating to "good cause."

Mont. Code Ann. § 39-2-206 (emphasis added).

In this case, Appellant's case hinged on whether her position was one "involving a fiduciary responsibility" for Turley and/or one "affecting public safety or public health." Appellant asks the Supreme Court to hold that the District Court, applying ordinary canons of construction to interpret § 39-2-206, erred in holding that her position fell into both categories. The Court should not do so.

As noted in Turley's briefing to the lower court, in considering Appellant's status as an "employee" under § 39-2-206, courts must remain mindful of fundamental canons of construction governing statutory interpretation.

For example, this Court has consistently stated that it will defer to statutory definitions where the Legislature provided them. *City of Great Falls v. Montana Dept. of Public Service Regulation*, 2011 MT 144, ¶ 18, 361 Mont. 69, 254 P.3d 595. However, where the Legislature did not provide statutory definitions and courts need to interpret a particular piece of statutory language, they must ascertain the plain meaning of that language. *Id.* Courts do so by interpreting a term in accordance with its <u>dictionary definition</u>. Montana Dept. of Revenue v. Priceline.com, Inc., 2015 MT 241, ¶ 10, 380 Mont. 352, 354 P.3d 631. Additionally, when interpreting undefined terms, courts may consider "the larger statutory scheme in which the term appears." *Giacomelli v. Scottsdale Ins. Co.*, 2009 MT 418, ¶ 18, 354 Mont. 15, 221 P.3d 666.

In this case, because the Drug Testing Act did not specifically spell out what it means to hold a "fiduciary relationship" to one's employer or what it means for a position to "affect public safety or public health," the District Court resorted to dictionary definitions, and appropriately so. In contrast to Appellant's insinuations the court's resort to dictionary definitions somehow justifies reversal, such an approach is endorsed by well settled canons of construction.

When applying said definitions to ascertain the meaning of terms such as "involving," "fiduciary," and "relationship," as well as "affecting," "public," and "health" it is clear that Appellant's job as a patient care coordinator rendered her an "employee" under the Drug Testing Act.

Turley presented undisputed evidence to suggest that Appellant's position required her to conduct tasks such as collecting personally identifiable patient information, processing payment on Turley's behalf, and helping patients apply for credit according to Turley dental care policies and standards. Detail-oriented functions of this nature handling private and confidential information of patients demonstrates that Appellant's position was one relating to Turley's "confidence" or "trust," the terms the District Court obtained through its review of dictionary definitions for "fiduciary." As such, Appellant's position was one involving fiduciary duties for Turley, and Turley could lawfully subject her to drug testing. Just as Appellant's position required her to work with Turley providers in creating dental treatment plans, collect sensitive patient information, handle medical records and insurance information, and establish and enforce sanitation measures and procedures. Tasks of this nature rendered her position one that "produced an effect" upon the business interests of Turley, a healthcare provider. As such, her position was also clearly one affecting "public safety or health," confirming again that Appellant was an "employee" under the Drug Testing Act who was properly subject to drug testing.

This interpretation makes sense in light of the larger statutory scheme of the

Drug Testing Act, with Section 208 of that statute, which discusses requirements for

"qualified testing programs," providing in part:

Qualified testing program -- allowable types -- procedures. Each of the following activities is permissible in the implementation of a qualified testing program:

(1) An <u>employer may test any prospective employee as a condition</u> <u>of hire</u>.

(2) <u>An employer may use random testing</u> if the employer's controlled substance and alcohol policy includes one or both of the following procedures:

(a) An employer or an employer's representative may establish a date *when all salaried and wage-earning employees will be required to undergo controlled substance or alcohol tests, or both*.

(b) An employer may manage or contract with a third party to establish and administer a random testing process that must include:

(i) an established calendar period for testing;

(ii) an established testing rate within the calendar period;

(iii) a random selection process that will determine who will be tested on any given date during the calendar period for testing; (iv) *all supervisory and managerial employees in the random selection and testing process*; and

(v) a procedure that requires the employer to obtain a signed statement from each employee that confirms that the employee has received a written description of the random selection process and that requires the employer to maintain the statement in the employee's personnel file. The selection of employees in a random testing procedure must be made by a scientifically valid method, such as a random number table or a computer-based random number generator table.

Mont. Code. Ann. § 39-2-208(1)-(2) (emphasis added).

Simply put, it is difficult to imagine why one section of the Drug Testing would contemplate "random testing" on "all" salaried, wage-earning, supervisory, and managerial employees if the Legislature had intended to exclude employees like Appellant from testing together. The district court correctly recognized as such, and this Court should affirm its conclusion that Appellant was an "employee" subject to drug testing.

2. None of the Arguments Offered by Appellant Should Persuade this Court of an Alternative Conclusion.

And while Appellant offers various arguments in "support" of her assertion that the District Court erred in interpreting Mont Code Ann. § 39-2-206, none of them should persuade the Court of such a conclusion. Indeed, while she devotes approximately seven pages of briefing to arguments that the District Court erred in determining her position was one "involving a fiduciary responsibility" and one affecting "public safety or public health," her position largely amounts to a request for this Court to apply statutory terminology from <u>wholly unrelated statutes</u>. In arguing against her status as a fiduciary, Appellant also applies case law from wholly unrelated contexts to baselessly conclude that an employer must inform its employee of the employee's status as a fiduciary before the employee could become a fiduciary. The Court should decline her invitation on all points.

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